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Rock Group XIV incorporates a small number of just 28 perforated artefacts, most of them Bronze Age axe-hammers, which are thought to have a source in the Nuneaton area of Warwickshire. The distribution is markedly local with 19 coming from the immediate area and nearby counties, but with occasional outliers in the south, one battle-axe being recovered from a barrow at Codford St Peter in Wiltshire, while a single example reached the north-west. The low output indicates that the group was very much a minor player in terms of the numbers of Bronze Age stone tools used in the Midlands but, nevertheless, will have had regional significance. The find of an incomplete, only partly perforated battle-axe in Leicestershire may indicate that the raw material was shipped out from source as blocks for manufacture on settlement sites. Such movement now takes on additional plausibility given the discovery of the Middle Bronze Age logboat at Shardlow (now in Derby Museum), which had a cargo of Bromsgrove sandstone. In this respect it is also worth recalling that an anvil stone of quartzite found at a much earlier Mesolithic site, Oakhanger in Hampshire, was reported as being from Hartshill, Nuneaton (Rankine 1961, 64). If this attribution is correct it may imply that long distance contact with such areas was more long-standing than usually imagined. 
F.W. Shotton (1959), who first identified the group, described the material as Camptonite, a coarse rock, speckled greenish black and pink. This term is now subsumed and it is noted as a Lamprophyre of the Midlands Minor Intrusive Suite by the British Geological Survey. Shotton (1959, 136–7) believed that the source lay in the 'the sills that penetrate the Cambrian rocks around Nuneaton' and he went on to say that 'most of the rock in the sills does not resemble that of the axes, but where a sill becomes wider, of the order of 100 feet as at Griff Hollow 1.5 miles to the south of Nuneaton, or the Mancetter quarries, 4 miles northwest of Nuneaton, the centre part becomes coarser and richer in feldspar and it is this pink and black speckled rock which matches the axes'. Shotton concluded that Griff Hollow was a likelier source than the Mancetter quarries.
Inspection of the area around Griff indicates that it is relatively low and flat, forming part of the floodplain of the Wem Brook, a minor tributary of the River Anker drainage, though the land is now utilised as arable, waste ground and partly covered by industrial and housing estates. The place name Nuneaton itself refers to a 'settlement by water' and the area around the Wem Brook is noted as liable to floods on the Ordnance Survey first edition 25" of 1888. South and west of the Cambrian deposits lie coal measures that were extensively exploited from the medieval period through to the twentieth century. Coal seams lie just below the surface and were widely quarried and mined, and large areas were quarried in an opencast manner. Many surface earthworks in the area are of these workings.
Within the area of Cambrian rock depicted on the BGS map, an 'Old Stone Pit' just north of the Coventry Canal junction and south of Griff Hill (Hall?) Farm is marked on the Ordnance Survey first edition 25" of 1888. A further 'Old quarry' existed to the east, just west of Marsden Hall. Part of the area around the former Griff Hill Farm is still quarried for asphalt by MQP, the area of extraction having much expanded during the twentieth century. The site will have encountered the wide sill mentioned by Shotton (1959), which runs slightly west of north and, in all probability, it was from here that he obtained the sample for his petrology slide. Gypsy Lane, which gives access to the quarry, was closed on the occasion of a recent field visit. 
Northwards of Griff, the sills all but disappear around Nuneaton itself, but reappear to the north-west as part of the prominent Mancetter Ridge. Given the now general acceptance that prehistoric choice of many quarry sites was as much symbolic as practical, and that high dramatic landforms were often the targeted locations, contrary to Shotton's (1959) view, the high ground of the north-west trending Mancetter Ridge with its extensive views would seem to be a far likelier source than the low-lying area around Griff Hollow. Like Griff though, much of the ridge has seen intensive quarrying. The present Mancetter quarry is now worked out, but the owners, Tarmac, have applied and obtained permission to quarry the sandstone and mudstone formations from a plot to the south-west of the ridge, leaving an extant spit separating it from the existing quarry. Archaeological evaluation on the site of the proposed new quarry found no evidence of prehistoric activity (Mundin & Taylor 2014), but it would be well worthwhile keeping a watching brief as extraction progresses.
Beyond the Mancetter quarry, the sills continue along the ridge, cross Coleshill Road and arc slightly northwards to end abruptly around Merevale Hall to the south-west of Atherstone. The undulations of ancient quarry working occur in the local woodland adjacent to Coleshill Road and probably beyond. The stone has long been widely quarried, as evidenced from local park walls, and may well have been used in the buildings of Roman Mancetter. 
However, the archaeological importance of the ridge itself lies in the presence of prehistoric flint tools, which include a Seamer flint axehead, first reported in 1656 by Sir William Dugdale (Field 2011). Subsequently, an Iron Age hillfort known locally as Oldbury Camp was constructed, which in turn is overlain by the grounds of Oldbury Hall situated just south of the Tarmac quarry. Consequently, it is now impossible to determine whether there were earthworks that preceded those of the Iron Age structure. The axehead was found along with ‘divers Flint Stones’ (Field 2011, 154) immediately north of the hillfort, an area since quarried away, and the presence of flint, the nearest source of which would be some 100 km distant, could imply that materials went in two directions. 
To the south of the hillfort and situated in the woodland in the north-west corner of Hartshill Hayes Country Park is a small Bronze Age barrow, and while this may have been an isolated example, it could equally well have formed the southern outlier of a cemetery since disturbed by the activities of Oldbury Hall, the Iron Age hillfort, and possibly the quarry. Digging of the barrow ditch will have encountered the widest of the Lamprophyre sills, which skirts the north-western corner of Hartshill Hayes wood, continuing northwards before being destroyed by Oldbury quarry. It may be relevant that several flakes were noted nearby in upcast during a recent archaeological survey (Brown & Field nd). If Shotton (1959) is right about the importance of the width of the sills, with the mound being constructed right in the middle and taking into account the landscape position, this must be a prime candidate for Bronze Age quarrying.
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